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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Skeljungur hf. (the or for the financial year 2020
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (Group) and are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and additional requirements in the Icelandic Financial Statements Act.
The main activities of the Company are import, sale and distribution of oil in addition to lubricants, chemical products and
fertilizers and various kinds of trade in other commodities, both in retail and wholesale. The Company operates in two
geographical markets, in Iceland and the Faroe Islands.

The Group's total revenues in 2020 amounted to ISK 41.203 million (2019: ISK 51.181 million) and profit amounted to ISK
791 million (2019: ISK 1.409 million). According to the consolidated statement of financial position the Group's total assets
at 31.12.2020 amounted to ISK 25.503 million (2019: ISK 24.461 million) and liabilities amounted to ISK 15.582 million
(2019: ISK 14.638 million). Total equity amounted to ISK 9.921 million (2019: ISK 9.823 million) and equity ratio was 39%
(2019: 40%). Full time employees at year end were 408 (2019: 406).

The principal financial risks affecting the Group are: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk consists of interest
rate risk, price risk and currency risk. Further reference is made to Note 32 concerning the risk management of the Group
and the coverage of financial numbers linked to the principal risk factors.

In connection with the preparation of the Financial Statements, the Company has established internal controls and
manages risk with appropriate segregation of duties and well-defined responsibilities. Processes are in place to ensure
monitoring of income registration, operating costs and other factors influencing the Financial Statements of the Company.

At the beginning of March Skeljungur hf. acquired all the shares in Langholt ehf. and 26 Fasteign ehf. The impact of the
acquisition on the operations and finances of the Group is insignificant.  

In November Skeljungur hf. acquired all the shares in Port I ehf., the holding company of Dælan ehf. and Löður ehf, subject
to the approval of the Icelandic Competition Authority. At the signature date of the Financial Statements the Icelandic
Competition Authority has not authorized the acquisition.

The COVID-19 pandemic had a substantial impact on the operations of the Group this year, especially in Iceland, where
demand fell substantially between years, and is the most significant explanation of decreased sales and results of the Group
between years. The decrease in sales and gross profit is amongst other things reflected in fewer visits of foreign tourists, a
decreased number of cruse liners etc. The measures of the Group's management have primarily involved ensuring the
safety of employees and customers concurrently with ensuring business continuity to minimize the disruption of service to
customers. The Companies of the Group play an important role in securing transport in Iceland and the Faroe Islands and
that resources reach the countries and therefore the utmost care is needed in our operations.

Impact of Covid19 on the Operations of the Group

The Companies of the Group did not make use of the remedies offered by the authorities regarding participation in payroll
expenses during the notice period, related to lowered work proportion and other remedies to help Companies which
suffered setbacks due to the pandemic.

According to the assessment of the Board of Directors and management the Group is well prepared to meet the
challenging environment related to Covid 19, whether considering the way customers are served, financial or liquidity

Other items
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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

Corporate governance

The share capital amounted to 1,986 milllion at the end of the year. According to the voting rights in
Skeljungur hf, 1 ISK shall carry one vote. The share capital is all in one share class which is registered at Nasdaq Iceland and
all shareholders have the same rights. At year end the share capital is owned by 640 shareholders but were 1,127 at the
beginning of the year. The ten largest shareholders  at year end were:

At the Annual General Meeting of Skeljungur on 5 March 2020 the Board of Directors of the Company was granted the
authorisation to purchase its own shares at a nominal price of up to 10% of the share capital. The re-purchase plan of the
Company was announced on 18 March 2020 and on its basis 49,641,892 shares in the Company had been purchased at
the year end 2020, corresponding to 2.5% of the total share capital of the Company. In other respects, referral is made to
the Financial Statements concerning changes in the equity of the Group.  

On 5 March 2020, the Annual General Meeting of Skeljungur hf. passed a motion to decrease the equity of the Company
from a nominal price of ISK 2,152,031,847 to a nominal price of ISK 1,985,675,666, by invalidating a nominal price of ISK
166,356,181 of the Company's own shares.

The Board of Directors and Management of Skeljungur put great emphasis on the Company adhering to good corporate
governance. In the mind of the Board and Management, good corporate governance is a foundation for trust and efficiency
and thus strengthens the relationship between all of the Company´s stakeholders. The Company strives to adhere to the
Iceland Chamber of Commerce (ICC), SA Business Iceland and Nasdaq Iceland´s Guidelines on Corporate Governance
(accessible on ICC´s website www.vi.is). The Board has also established Rules of Procedure that are to a great extent based
on the aforementioned guidelines and are among other things meant to define the purview of the Board and the CEO in
more detail.

On 5 March 2020, the Annual General Meeting of Skeljungur hf. passed a motion to pay dividend to shareholders
amounting to ISK 600 million.  Dividend was paid on 2 April 2020.  

The Board of Directors proposes payment of a dividend to shareholders in 2021, in respect of the operating year 2020,
amounting to ISK 350 million. According to the adopted dividend policy of the Company the plan is to pay 30-50% of
earnings yearly to shareholders in the form of a dividend payment or re-purchase of shares. The Board of Directors of the
Company will submit a proposal to change the Dividend Policy for the re-purchase of own shares amounting to up to 10%
of the nominal price of issued share capital and the cancelling of the company´s own shares.

Share capital

Shareholder
Nominal value of 

share in million Share

Strengur hf. ....................................................................................................................... 499 25,80%

Strengur Holding ehf. ...................................................................................................... 235 12,12%

Gildi - lífeyrissjóður .......................................................................................................... 200 10,34%

Frjálsi lífeyrissjóðurinn ..................................................................................................... 163 8,44%

Birta lífeyrissjóður ............................................................................................................ 138 7,12%

Festa - lífeyrissjóður ......................................................................................................... 100 5,18%

Lífsverk lífeyrissjóður ....................................................................................................... 73 3,79%

Stapi lífeyrissjóður ............................................................................................................ 67 3,46%

Stefnir - ÍS 15 ..................................................................................................................... 55 2,85%

Stefnir - ÍS 5 ....................................................................................................................... 44 2,25%

Ten largest shareholders total 1.575 81,36%

Other shareholders .......................................................................................................... 361 18,64%

Total outstanding shares 1.936 100,00%

Shares owned by Skeljungur ........................................................................................... 50

Total shares as in articles of association 1.986
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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

Corporate governance, contd.:

Non-financial information reporting

Statement of the Board of Directors and CEO

Reykjavík, 4 February 2021.

To the Board of Directors´ and the CEO´s best knowledge the Consolidated Financial Statements give a fair view of the
operating results in the year 2020, its assets and financial position at 31 December 2020 and changes in cash flow in 2020.
It is also the opinion of the Board of Directors and the CEO that the Financial Statements give a fair view of the development
and progress of the Group's operations and position and that they describe the main risk factors and uncertainty that the
Company faces. According to the Board of Directors´ and the CEO´s best knowledge the Consolidated Financial
Statements are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional
requirements in Icelandic laws and rules applicable to Financial Statements of listed companies. 

The Board of Directors and the CEO of Skeljungur hf. have reviewed and hereby confirm the Consolidated Financial
Statements for 2020 by means of their signatures. The Board of Directors and the CEO propose to the Annual General
Meeting the approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Skeljungur wants to show responsibility, as a participant in the community. Skeljungur has compiled information necessary
to evaluate the Company´s development, scope, status and effects in relation to environmental, social and employee
matters, along with the Company´s policy regarding human rights and the Company´s counteractions against corruption
and bribery. The information is in an annex enclosed with the Financial Statements.

The Board of Skeljungur comprises two women and three men and the Company fulfils legal requirements regarding
gender ratios of the Company´s board.

Further information regarding the Board and its corporate governance is in the annex Corporate Governance Statement,
which is enclosed with the Financial Statements.

 

The Board of Directors 

  

     
  Jón Ásgeir Jóhannesson, 

 chairman 
  

     

Birna Ósk Einarsdóttir    Elín Jónsdóttir 

     
Dagný Halldórsdóttir    Þórarinn Arnar Sævarsson 

CEO 

 

 

  Árni Pétur Jónsson   
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Skeljungur hf.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of goodwill
We in cooperation with our valuation experts evaluated
the assumptions used by management in calculating
value of goodwill in each cash generating unit. This work
included among other things:

Management calculation model was tested at its
functionality evaluated.

Key assumptions for projected cash flows and
operating plans for the next five years were tested. This
work entailed an evaluation of key assumptions
regarding income, operating expenses, contribution
margin and investments for the projected period.

Assumptions relating to projected future growth
following the projected period were evaluated.

In reviewing the reliability of operating and cash flow
plans, among other things deviations from previous

Management key assumptions were compared to
external and internal data.

We reviewed notes to the financial statements and
verified that information required in accounting policies
were included.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Independent auditor's report 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Skeljungur hf. ("the Group"), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at December 31, 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and additional disclosure requirements for listed companies in Iceland.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of consolidated financial statements in Iceland and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. 

We declare, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services, as
referred to in Article 5(1) of the Regulation (EU) 537/2014 and that we remained independent in conducting the audit. 

We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on April 16, 1982. We have been re-appointed by
resolutions passed by the annual general meeting uninterrupted since then. 

Goodwill must be tested annually for impairment in order to
confirm that carrying amount is not less than discounted
estimated future cash flow of the relevant cash generating
unit.

the audit of the consolidated financial statements since
these are large parts of total assets. Furthermore, there are
inherent uncertainties in management's plans regarding
among other things price levels, changes in volumes,
changes in prices and other management assumptions
which are used in discounting future cash flows of the
relevant cash generating units and due to how sensitive the
impairment test is for changes in assumptions.

Information on impairment tests performed on goodwill is in
note 17. Further information on accounting policies is in
note 5.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor's Report

The Board of Directors and CEO are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and additional disclosure requirements for listed
companies in Iceland, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors and CEO are responsible for assessing the
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the

going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and CEO for the Consolidated Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Consolidated  Financial Statements of Skeljungur hf. 2020 7



________________________________________________________________________________________________

KPMG ehf.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Article 104, Paragraph 2 of the Icelandic Financial Statement Act No. 3/2006, we
confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the report of the Board of Directors and CEO accompanying the consolidated
financial statements includes the information required by the Financial Statement Act if not disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements.

Reykjavík, 4. February 2021

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with The Board of Directors and audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor's Report

We also provide The Board of Directors and audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with The Board of Directors and audit committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
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Notes 2020 20191.1. - 31.12 1.1. - 31.12

8. 41.203 51.181 

9. 31.748)(          42.477)(              

Gross profit 9.454 8.703 

10.  323 243 

11.  4.047)(             2.788)(                

12.  2.407)(             2.159)(                

13. 647)(                 577)(                     

7.101)(             5.525)(                

2.676 3.422 

19. 1.307)(             1.093)(                
 
 1.369 2.329 

  

15.  130 29 

15.  431)(                 460)(                     
301)(                 430)(                     

22. 88)(                    132)(                     
 

 980 1.767 

16. 188)(                 358)(                     

791 1.409 

Net earnings for the year attributable to:
759 1.372 

32 37 
791 1.409 

28. 0,39 0,68 
28. 0,39 0,68 

The notes on pages  14-40 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation of operating assets ........................................................................

Diluted earnings per each ISK one of share capital ..............................................

Financial income ...............................................................................................

Earnings per  ISK one of share capital and diluted share capital ...........................

Profit before income tax ...........................................................................

Profit for the  year ....................................................................................

Earnings per share:

Owners of  the Company ...................................................................................

Consolidated Income Statement 2020

Non-controlling interest ....................................................................................

Sales .................................................................................................................
Cost of goods sold .............................................................................................

Other income ....................................................................................................

Salaries and salary related expenses ...................................................................

Profit before depreciation and financial items (EBITDA) .............................

Operating profit before financial items (EBIT) ...........................................

Financial expenses .............................................................................................

Share of loss from associated companies ...........................................................

Income tax expense ...........................................................................................

Sales and distribution expenses .........................................................................

Other operating expenses .................................................................................
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Notes 2020 2019

791 1.409 

652 104 

478)(                 47)(                        

96 9 

269 66 

Total comprehensive income ............................................................................. 1.060 1.475 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

1.002 1.439 
58 36 

1.060 1.475 

The notes on pages  14-40 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 2020

Other comprehensive income that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation difference of associates and subsidiaries ..........................................

Translation difference of net investment hedge ..................................................

Income tax relating to net investment hedge ......................................................

Profit for the year ......................................................................................

Owners of  the Company ....................................................................................
Non-controlling interest .....................................................................................
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Notes 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Non-current assets

17.  3.947  3.545 

18. 682  647 

19. 11.264 10.813 

19. 1.682 1.486 

22. 521 409 

23. 29 0 
18.125 16.900 

Current assets

24. 2.705 3.313 

25. 3.145 3.608 

26. 229 133 

223 0 

1.078 506 
7.378 7.561 

25.503 24.461 0 0 

Equity

1.936 1.986 

3.210 3.210 

1.565 1.597 

2.958 2.837 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 27. 9.670 9.629 
252 193 

Total equity 9.921 9.823 

Liabilities

29. 392 403 

30. 1.608 1.392 
31. 5.705 5.481 

Non-current liabilities 7.705 7.276 

Current liabilities

31. 2.370 503 

2.448 2.851 

31. 531 544 

30. 212 208 

35. 4 16 

16,29 208 326 
32. 2.105 2.914 

7.877 7.362 

15.582 14.638 

25.503 24.461 

The notes on pages  14-40 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Other current liabilities ......................................................................................

Loans and borrowings .......................................................................................

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Trade payables ..................................................................................................

Current maturities of long-term debt .................................................................

Related party debt .............................................................................................

Taxes for the year ...............................................................................................

Current maturities of lease liabilities ..................................................................

Long term receivables .......................................................................................

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position as of 31.12.2020

Goodwill ............................................................................................................

Other intangible assets ......................................................................................

Operating assets ...............................................................................................

Shares in associated companies .........................................................................

Leasing assets ...................................................................................................

Non-current assets

Inventories ........................................................................................................

Trade receivables ..............................................................................................

Other receivables ..............................................................................................

Cash and cash equivalents .................................................................................

Market equities .................................................................................................

Current assets

Total assets

Share capital ......................................................................................................

Share premium ..................................................................................................

Restricted equity ...............................................................................................

Retained earnings .............................................................................................

Deferred tax liability ...........................................................................................

Loans and borrowings .......................................................................................

Non-controlling interest ....................................................................................

Lease liabilities ..................................................................................................
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Reserve for Total Non

Share Share Statutory Share option Translation profit from Retained equity of  controlling Total

capital premium reserve reserve difference subsidiaries earnings the Company interest Equity

2019
2.053 3.210 459 1 1.116)(            1.476 2.764 8.847 157 9.004 

106)(                106)(                0 106)(                 

2.053 3.210 459 1 1.116)(            1.476 2.659 8.741 157 8.898 

1.372 1.372 37 1.409 

66 66 1)(                     66 

66 0 1.372 1.438 36 1.475 

53)(                   722 669)(                0 0 

67)(                   483)(                549)(                549)(                 

42 42)(                   0 0 

1.986 3.210 501 1 1.103)(            2.198 2.837 9.630 193 9.823 

2020
1.986 3.210 501 1 1.103)(            2.198 2.837 9.629 193 9.823 

759 759 32 791 

269 269 26 295 

269 0 759 1.028 58 1.087 

833 833)(                0 0 

1.133)(            1.133 0 0 

600)(                600)(                600)(                 

1)(                     4)(                     4)(                     4)(                       

50)(                   334)(                384)(                384)(                 

1.936 3.210 501 1 834)(                1.898 2.958 9.670 252 9.921 

The notes on pages  14-40 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 2020

Balance at 31 December 2020 ......................

Reserve for profit in subs. and associates ......

Dividend from subsidiaries ...........................

Allocated dividends ......................................

Profit for the year ..........................................

Exercised stock options ................................

Purchased own shares ..................................

Other comprehensive income ......................

Profit for the year ..........................................

Balance at 31 December 2019 ......................

Other earnings .............................................

Total comprehensive income ........................

Contribution to statutory reserve ..................

Purchased own shares ..................................

Reserve for profit in subs. and associates ......

IFRS 16 transition .........................................

Total comprehensive income ........................
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2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:

791 1.409 

Adjustments:

19. 1.307 1.093 
22. 88 132 

15. 274 402 

5)(                        6)(                        

16. 188 357 

Cash flow from operations less interest and Income taxes 2.644 3.386 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

723 1.432 

642 805 
1.495)(              207)(                  

130)(                  2.030 

Cash generated from operating activities before interest and taxes 2.514 5.417 

32 29 

424)(                  438)(                  
310)(                  435)(                  

Cash generated from operating activities 1.812 4.573 

Investing activities

19. 1.071)(              711)(                  

126 27 
101)(                  47)(                     
196)(                  45)(                     
126)(                  0 

0 44 

23)(                     16 
Net cash used in investing activities 1.391)(              716)(                  

Financing activities
384)(                  549)(                  

2.023)(              2.480)(              
1.258 1.945 

600)(                  0 
0 16 
1 78 

1.849 3.188)(              
Net cash used in financing activities 101 4.178)(              

522 321)(                  

506 818 

50 10 

1.078 506 

Investing activities not affecting cash flows:
0 219 
0 219)(                  

The notes on pages  14-40 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Trade and other payables, change .....................................................................................................

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  2020

Trade and other receivables, change ..................................................................................................

Profit (loss) from associated companies .............................................................................................

Financial income and financial expenses ............................................................................................

Gain on sale of assets ..........................................................................................................................

Income tax ..........................................................................................................................................

Inventories, change ............................................................................................................................

Profit for the  period ...............................................................................................................................

Depreciation and impairment ............................................................................................................

Effects of movements in exchange rates on cash held ..............................................................

Interest income received .......................................................................................................................

Interest expenses ...................................................................................................................................

Investment in associated companies .....................................................................................................

Payables to associated companies .........................................................................................................

Purchase of own shares .........................................................................................................................

New long-term liabilities ........................................................................................................................

Taxes paid ..............................................................................................................................................

Investment in operating assets ..............................................................................................................

Proceeds from sale of operating assets ..................................................................................................

Instalments of long-term liabilities .........................................................................................................

Paid dividends .......................................................................................................................................

Short-term borrowing, change ..............................................................................................................

Cash from subsidiaries ...........................................................................................................................

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ...........................................................

Investment in shares in subsidiaries ......................................................................................................

Dividend from associated companies ....................................................................................................

Securities, change .................................................................................................................................

Market equities ......................................................................................................................................

Investment in operating assets ..............................................................................................................

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............................................................

Increase in trade receivables ..................................................................................................................

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period ........................................................................
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1. Reporting entity

2. Basis of accounting  

3.

4.

a. Determination of fair values

Notes

A number of the accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities.

To the extent possible the Group uses market information in determining fair values but if such information is not
available management's evaluation is used. If information from a third party is used, such as prices from brokers or
valuation services, in determining fair values then management uses the information to support their result that the
evaluation fulfills requirements of IRFSs, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should
be classified. 

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation
techniques as follows.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Icelandic krona (ISK), which is the Company's functional
currency. All financial information presented in ISK has been rounded to the nearest million except when otherwise
indicated.

Management's use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, management has made judgements,
estimates and assumptions that effect the application of the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The effect of changes are entered in the
periods that the changes are made and in subsequent periods if the change also affects those periods.

Information about significant areas of estimates and judgments made in applying accounting policies that have
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is in note 17 regarding
measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash generating units containing goodwill.

Skeljungur hf. (the "Company") is a limited liability company domiciled in Iceland. The address of the Company´s
registered office is at Borgartun 26, Reykjavik. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the and individually as and the

The main activities of the Company are import, sale and distribution of oil in addition to lubricants, chemical products
and fertilizer and various kinds of trade in other commodities, both in retail and wholesale. In addition, lending,
operation of real estates, vessels, service stations and other activity or participation in business activities in accordance
with decisions made by the Board of Directors. The Group operates in two geographical areas, in Iceland and the Faroe
Islands. In Iceland the Company operates under the brand names Skeljungur, Orkan and Kvikk and runs 65 fuel
stations and 4 oil depots. The subsidiary P/F Magn operates in the Faroe Islands and runs 11 retail and fuel stations
around the Faroe Islands in addition to running 2 oil depots and specialiesing in environmentally friendly central
heating solutions. The companies' customer base comes from all sectors of the communities.

The Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in Icelandic laws and rules applicable to financial
statements of listed companies.

The Board of Directors of Skeljungur hf. approved and authorised publication of the consolidated financial statements
on 4 February 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are based on cost accounting except that forward contracts are measured at fair
value.

Presentation and functional currency
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Notes

a. Determination of fair values, contd.:

5. Significant accounting policies

a. 
i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

Merger of entities
The Group accounts for merger of entities using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The
consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any profit on a beneficial purchase is recognised
in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securities. 

Share of other shareholder, which are considered non-controlling, is measured at its proportionate share of the
recognised amount of the identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated
on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

- Level 2; assumptions based on other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that can be acquired for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 17 intangible assets and
in note 33 risk management.

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements, except for the policies introduced in note 5q on IFRS Leases.

Basis for consolidation

- Level 1; quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 3; assumptions for value of the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over their financial and
operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the
voting power of another entity.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially at cost, including
transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of associates according to equity method. If share in loss exceeds book value of the associate the book value is moved
to zero and further loss not recognised unless the Group has accepted guarantee for the associate or financed it. If
profit incurs in later periods the Group does not recognise its profit until accumulated loss has been met.

Market equities are comprised of listed equities and are valued at mark-to-market price (fair value).
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Notes

b.

c.
(i)

(ii)

d.
(i)

(ii)

e.
(i)

(ii)

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
The Group pays contributions to independent defined contribution pension funds due to its employees. The Group
has no responsibility for the funds' obligations. Contributions are expensed in the income statement among salaries
and salary related expenses when incurred.

Share option agreements
The fair value of employees' share option rights is measured at the date of the agreement and recognised among
salaries and salary related expenses in the period the employees earn the share option rights. The amount is offset in a
separate item in equity. Annual charge is adjusted taking into account the number of earned share option rights. The
fair value of employees' share option rights is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include
share price of the instrument, expected volatility in rate of exchange, duration of the agreements, expected dividends,
and risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currencies

The Group applies hedge accounting for exchange rate differences arising from translation of foreign operations'
financial statements from the foreign currency's functional currency into the parent company's functional currency. To
the extent that hedging is effective, the exchange rate difference for financial liabilities, which is defined by hedge
accounting for investments in foreign operations, is recognized among other comprehensive income and,
consequently, a translation difference among equity. Another exchange difference due to the financial liability is
recognized in the income statement. When a hedged investment is sold or discontinued, the relevant amount is
reclassified by a translation difference to the income statement as part of the gain or loss on the sale or discontinued
operation.

Other income
Other income comprises commissions, gain on sale of assets, rental income and other income. Other income is
recognised upon delivery of goods or services. Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the rental period.

Expenses
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold consists of the purchase price of sold inventories together with the related transportation cost,
excise tax and duties.

Lease payments

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Icelandic krona at the foreign exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised at the foreign exchange rate at the
reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising from translation of assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Subsidiaries with different functional currency than ISK
Monetary assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Icelandic krona at the exchange rate at the
reporting date. Transactions are translated at the average exchange rate of the year. Exchange differences arising from
the translation to Icelandic krona are recognised as a separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income.
The cash flow is translated to Icelandic krona using the average exchange rate of the year. When foreign operation is
sold, in full or in part, related exchange difference is recognised in the income statement.

Revenue
Sold goods and services
Revenue from the sale of fuel and other goods are recognised upon delivery of the goods. Invoices are issued monthly
to largest customers with credit and credit terms are between 20-40 days.

Payments under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.

Consolidated  Financial Statements of Skeljungur hf. 2020 16 Amounts are in millions



________________________________________________________________________________________________

Notes

f.

g.

h.

i.
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

10 years
20 years

Intangible assets and goodwill
Recognition and measurement
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries relates to the difference between original purchase price and share
in equity on acquisition date. An impairment test is performed at least annually.                                                                                                                                

Software and customer relationships relating to a subsidiary that have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 

Finance income and finance expenses
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group's right to receive payment is
established.

Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and impairment losses recognised on financial assets other
than trade receivables. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as finance income or finance expenses as appropriate.

Customer relationships .......................................................................................................................

Amortisation methods, useful lifes and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lifes, and is recognised in profit or loss.  Goodwill is not amortised.

The estimated useful lifes for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Software .............................................................................................................................................

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case the income tax is
recognised in those items.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. Regular repair and maintenance is expensed as incurred. 
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Notes

j.
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

11 - 50 years
4 - 13 years

k.

(i)

At the beginning of a contract the Group assesses whether a contract or a part thereof involves a lease agreement. A
contract is a lease agreement in part or in whole if it involves the right to control a specific asset for a specific period of
time in exchange for remuneration. The assessment whether a lease agreement involves the control of a
specific asset is based on the definition of a lease agreement in IFRS 16.

The Group as a Lessee
At the beginning or change of a contract which includes leasing the Group allocates the remuneration to each lease
part on the basis of the individual price of each part. As concerns lease agreements for real estate, however, the Group
has chosen not to distinguish the lease part from other parts of the contract and enters them as one lease agreement.

Operating assets
Recognition and measurement
Operating assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Cost comprises of direct cost related to the purchase. Cost price of operating assets which the Group itself builds
includes direct material, salary expenses and other direct cost related to the asset becoming ready to use and
capitalised finance expenses. Purchased software which is necessary in order to operate the operating assets is
capitalised as a part of the operating asset.

Lease Agreements 

The Group enters a lease asset and a lease liability at the beginning of a lease agreement. The lease asset is originally
recorded at cost price, which is the original amount of the lease liability taking into account lease payments which have
been incurred before or on the commencement date of the contract, direct costs of the procurement of the lease asset
and estimated costs of taking down and removing the asset or to restore the asset to its original state at the end of the
lease agreement, deducting lease concessions which the Group has received.

If significant parts of an item of operating asset have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
operating assets.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of operating assets is recognised in profit or loss by comparing sale price and
carrying amount of the asset and settled and then recognised in the income statement among other income or other
expenses.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each component of
an item of operating assets. Land is not depreciated.

Operating assets are depreciated from the date they are installed and are ready for use, or in respect of internally
constructed assets, from the date the asset is completed and ready for use. 

The estimated useful lifes for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Oil depots and real estates ..................................................................................................................
Vehicles, machinery and equipment  ...................................................................................................

Depreciation methods, useful lifes and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are
assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is
depreciated separately.
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(i)

Short-term lease agreements and lease agreements concerning insignificant assets

(ii)

The Group as a Lessee, contd.:
The lease asset is depreciated linearly from the beginning to the end of the lease agreement, except when ownership
is moved to the Group at the end of the lease period or if the cost price of the lease asset reflects that the Group will
exercise its purchase options at the end of the lease period. In such instances the lease asset is depreciated during the

utilisation time, which is determined by the same method used for other fixed assets of the Group.
Furthermore, the value of a lease property is regularly decreased by its devaluation, if any, and corrected based on the
re-evaluation of the lease liability.

A lease liability is originally recorded as the present value of unpaid lease payments on the start date of the lease
agreement. The payments are computed to their present value by using the lease contract's inherent interest, if
present. If not the Group uses the interest received on new loan capital. Normally the Group uses interest on new loan
capital for calculation to the present value.

The Group determines interest on new loan capital by collecting interest data for different financing options and
makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease agreement and the characteristics of the leased property.

Lease payments included in the determination of the amount of the lease liability include the following:

Variable lease payments, connected to interest or index, originally estimated on the basis of interest or index on the
start date;

The acquisition price as per the terms of the lease agreement concerning purchase options, when the Group
considers it very likely that it will exercise its purchase options, lease payments during optional extension periods, if
the Group considers it very likely that it will exercise its extension rights, and payments due to the termination of the
lease agreement before the end of the lease period, unless the Group considers it very likely that it will not exercise its
termination rights.

The lease liability is recorded at the depreciated cost price by using the effective rate of interest method. It is re-
assessed when there is a change of future lease payments due to index or interest, if there is a change of the
assessment of the amount expected to be paid based on residual value insurance, if the Group changes its assessment
whether it will use the purchase option terms, rights to extension or to the termination of the lease agreement or when
there is a change of the amount of the lease payment, which is by nature fixed.

When the lease liability is re-assessed in this way a corresponding amendment is made to the book value of the lease
property or an amendment is recorded in the profit and loss account of the Group if the book value of the lease
property has been depreciated to zero.

Lease assets which do not fulfil the definition of investment real estate are recorded amongst operating assets in the
balance sheet whereas lease liabilities are included amongst interest-bearing loans.

The Group chooses not to record lease assets and lease liabilities based on lease agreements concerning insignificant
assets and short-term lease agreements, including for computer hardware. The Group linearly expenses lease
payments based on these lease agreements during the lease period.

The Group as a Lessor
At the beginning or change of a contract which includes leasing the Group divides the remuneration between
individual lease parts of the contract on the basis of their proportional individual price.

When the Group is the lessor a decision is made at the onset of the lease agreement whether it involves a financing
lease agreement or an operating lease agreement.

When classifying the lease agreement, the Group makes a comprehensive assessment whether the lease agreement
transfers the majority of the risk and benefit involved in the ownership of the underlying asset. If that is the result the
lease agreement is a financing lease agreement, if not it is an operating lease agreement. Certain factors are a part of
this assessment, for example whether the lease agreement extends to most of the economic lifetime of the asset.
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Notes

(ii)

l.

m.

 

n.
(i)

The Group as a Lessor, contd.:
When the Group leases and then sub-leases an asset it enters its interests based on the original lease agreement on
the one hand and the sub-lease agreement on the other hand. The Group classifies a sub-lease contract with reference
to the lease asset pursuant to the original lease agreement and not with reference to the underlying asset. If the
original lease agreement is a short-term lease agreement which the Group handles according to the exemption
mentioned above the sub-lease agreement is an operating lease agreement.

If a contract involves a lease part and other unrelated parts the Group bases its allocation of remuneration to individual
parts of the contract on IFRS 15.

The Group implements the requirements of IFRS 9 for de-listing and devaluation of the net assets of lease agreements.
Furthermore, the Group regularly reviews the estimated uninsured residual value which is used to calculate the total
investment of the Group in the lease agreement.

The Group linearly enters lease payments in relation to operating lease agreements over the lease period amongst
other income in the profit and loss account.

In general, comparable accounting practices applied to the Group as a lessor during the comparison period as now
apply according to IFRS 16, with the exception that a sub-lease agreement which the Group entered into in the current
financial reporting period is classified as a financing lease agreement.

	Lease Agreements

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are substantially transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in
first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated cost of completion and selling expenses.

Provisions

Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and bank deposits on the date that they originate. All other
financial assets including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially on the trade date,
which is the date the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables, other receivables and other short-
term loans.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or contractual obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is
recognised as finance expenses.

Financial instruments
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

o.
(i)

(ii)

When acquiring own shares the purchase price, including direct expenses, is recognised as decrease in equity. When
own shares are sold or re-issued equity increases and profit or loss from the transaction are recognised through equity.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. Such financial liabilities are
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities other than derivatives comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position
and changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss as part of cost of goods sold in the statement of
comprehensive income. Derivatives used when purchasing oil is recognised in inventories but the business cost is
recognised in cost of goods sold.

Share capital

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued on the date that they originate. All other financial liabilities are
recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of share capital are recognised
as a deduction from equity, after deducting tax.

Own shares acquired

For impairment testing, assets are grouped into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories and
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

Other assets

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries and the amount of
loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are
likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. 

Financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted
investee, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A
financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset, and this loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset that can be estimated reliably.

Non-derivative financial assets
Impairment

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments
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p.

q.
A few new International Accounting Standards apply to fiscal years which start after 1 January 2020, but they may be
applied prior to their entry into force. However, the Group has not implemented any new or amended accounting
standards prior to their entry into force in the preparation of these Financial Statements.

New standards and amendments to the following standards and interpretations are not expected to have a substantial
impact on the Financial Statements of the Group.

 - COVID-19 related rental concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16).

 -Fixed assets: Benefit before the start of planned use (Amendments to IAS 16).

 - Reference to the concept framework of International Accounting Standards (Amendments to IRFS 3).

 -The division of liabilities into long-term and short-term liabilities (Amendments to IAS 1)

 - IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
other components. All operating operating results are reviewed regularly by the management to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is available. It is the Group management's opinion is that the Group is only one operating
segment. There are two geographical segments.

Segment reporting

New standards and interpretations
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7. Geographic information

Year 2020
Income Statement Iceland Faroe Islands Total

25.970 15.560 41.530 
327)(                  0 327)(                    

25.643 15.560 41.203 
5.557 3.897 9.454 
1.168 1.509 2.676 

146 1.223 1.369 

Financial Position
12.299 5.825 18.125 

4.197 3.182 7.378 
16.496 9.007 25.503 

4.502 3.203 7.705 
5.275 2.602 7.877 
9.777 5.805 15.582 

Year 2019
Income Statement Iceland Faroe Islands Total

33.713 18.269 51.982 
802)(                  0 802)(                    

32.911 18.269 51.181 
5.367 3.337 8.703 
1.976 1.445 3.422 
1.125 1.204 2.329 

Financial Position
11.813 5.087 16.900 

5.179 2.383 7.561 
16.991 7.469 24.461 

5.608 1.668 7.276 
5.209 2.153 7.362 

10.817 3.821 14.638 

8. Sales
Sales are specified as follows: 2020 2019

32.105 45.928 
9.097 5.253 

41.203 51.181 

Sales are attributable to the following products:

16.910 21.988 
1.665 4.666 

10.753 15.462 
2.733 3.813 
9.142 5.253 

41.203 51.181 

Revenues from 3rd party .....................................................................
Gross profit .........................................................................................
EBITDA ...............................................................................................
EBIT ....................................................................................................

Non-current assets ..............................................................................

Current assets .....................................................................................

Current liabilities .................................................................................
Total liabilities .....................................................................................

Total revenue  .....................................................................................
Inter-Group revenues ..........................................................................

Notes

Revenues from 3rd party .....................................................................
Gross profit .........................................................................................
EBITDA ...............................................................................................

The geographic information below shows the Group by the companies' countries of domicile.

Total revenue  .....................................................................................
Inter-Group revenues ..........................................................................

Fuel ............................................................................................................................
Other goods ...............................................................................................................
Total sales ...................................................................................................................

EBIT ....................................................................................................

Non-current assets ..............................................................................

Marine fuel .................................................................................................................
Other Fuel ..................................................................................................................
Other Products ...........................................................................................................
Total sales ...................................................................................................................

Total assets .........................................................................................

Long term liabilities .............................................................................

Current assets .....................................................................................
Total assets .........................................................................................

Long term liabilities .............................................................................
Current liabilities .................................................................................
Total liabilities .....................................................................................

Gasoline and Diesel ....................................................................................................
Jet fuel ........................................................................................................................
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9. Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold is specified as follows: 2020 2019

25.896 39.195 
5.852 3.282 

31.748 42.477 

10. Other income

Other income is specified as follows:

201 83 
9 18 
4 4 

109 138 
323 243 

11. Salaries and salary related expenses
Salaries and salary related expenses are specified as follows:

3.224 2.323 
403 259 
420 206 

4.047 2.788 

364 259
408 406

12. Sales and distribution expenses
Sales and distribution expenses are specified as follows:

1.095 989 
559 454 
753 716 

2.407 2.159 

13. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are specified as follows:

466 473 
32 25 

149 80 
647 577 

14. Fees to auditors
Fees to the Group's auditors are specified as follows:

26 18 
0 2 

19 14 
45 33 

Average number of full-time equivalents during the year  ............................................
Full-time-equivalents at year end*  ..............................................................................

Distribution expenses .................................................................................................
Marketing expenses ....................................................................................................
Real estate expenses  ..................................................................................................
Total sales and distribution expenses ..........................................................................

Real estate expenses ...................................................................................................
Information technology ..............................................................................................
Total other operating expenses ...................................................................................

Audit of financial statements .......................................................................................

Other income total ......................................................................................................

Salaries .......................................................................................................................
Contribution to pension funds ....................................................................................
Other salary-related expenses .....................................................................................
Salaries and salary-related expenses total ....................................................................

Office and administrative expenses .............................................................................

Rental income .............................................................................................................

Fuel ............................................................................................................................
Other goods ...............................................................................................................
Total cost of goods sold ...............................................................................................

Commission ...............................................................................................................

Other income .............................................................................................................

Review of interim financial statements .........................................................................
Other services .............................................................................................................
Total fees to auditors ...................................................................................................

Profit from sale of operating assets ..............................................................................
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15. Financial income and expenses 2020 2019
Financial income is specified as follows:

1 5 

1 6 

32 18 

97 0 
130 29

Financial expenes are specified as follows:

411 448
20 12

431 460

301 430

16. Income tax
Expensed income tax is specified as follows:

208 326 
20)(                    32 

188 358 

Effective income tax is specified as follows:

980 1.767 

20,00% 196 20,00% 353 
2,18% 21)(                     0,83% 29)(                       
1,38%) (      14 0,50% 33 

19,21% 188 20,24% 358 

17. Intangible assets

2020 2019

3.545 3.333 
106 174 
296 38 

3.947 3.545 

2020 2019

1.457 1.525 
2.490 2.020 
3.947 3.545 

Goodwill is specified as follows:

Goodwill 1 January ......................................................................................................
Addition of goodwill in business combination .............................................................
Translation difference .................................................................................................
Goodwill 31 December ...............................................................................................

An impairment test is performed at least annually. Assets were evaluated at fair value on acquisition date.

Effects of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions ........................
Other items  ....................................................................
Income tax in income statement .....................................

Interest income on receivables ....................................................................................

2019

Interest expenses ........................................................................................................
Currency exchange difference (income) ......................................................................
Financial expenses total ..............................................................................................

2020

Interest income on bank accounts ...............................................................................
Interest income from bonds ........................................................................................

Faroe Islands ...............................................................................................................
Total ...........................................................................................................................

Impairment of goodwill
In performing impairment test the recoverable amount was evaluated based on utilisation value of the cash
generating units (CGUs) which the goodwill is allocated to. Goodwill which has been generated in acquisition has
been allocated to the relevant subsidiaries which are defined as the smallest distinguishable CGUs by the Group's
management. Goodwill is allocated to each CGU as follows:

Goodwill

Iceland .......................................................................................................................

Market equities, fair value changes ..............................................................................
Financial income total .................................................................................................

Net financial expenses ................................................................................................

Income tax payable .....................................................................................................
Deferred income tax ...................................................................................................
Expensed income tax  .................................................................................................

Profit before income tax  .................................................

Income tax using the current tax rate ..............................
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17. Intangible assets, contd.:

2020 2019 2020 2019
2,5% 2,5% 0,5% 0,5%
0,8% 1,6% -3,0% 0,5%

5,0% 1,2% -3,0% 0,5%
8,0% 8,4% 7,0% 7,0%

60,0% 48,0% 50,0% 50,0%
4,7% 6,6% 2,3% 2,4%

18. Other intangible assets
Customer

relationships Software Total
391 300 691 

0 12 12 
27)(                     41)(                    67)(                       

8 6 14 
372 277 649 

0 10 10 
0 46)(                    46)(                       

31 37 68 
403 279 682 

5% 10%

19. Operating assets

Oil depots & 
real estate Other assets Total

Cost
14.880 2.904 17.784 

14 14)(                    0)(                          
538 725 1.263 

32)(                     180)(                  212)(                    
68 55 123 

15.469 3.490 18.958 
697 390 1.087 
156)(                  85)(                    241)(                    
380 228 608 

16.389 4.023 20.412 

19. Operating assets, contd.:
Depreciation

Balance 1 January 2019 .......................................................................

Additions during the year ....................................................................
Depreciation for the year .....................................................................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Other intangible assets 31.12.2019 .....................................................

Depreciation ratio ...............................................................................

Reclassification of assets ......................................................................

Operating assets and their depreciation are specified as follows:

Disposals during the year ....................................................................

Depreciation for the year .....................................................................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Other intangible assets 31.12.2019 .....................................................

Interest rate.....................................................................

Changes in WACC by +1% or EBITDA -5% would not cause an impairment in each CGU.

Other intangible assets belong to Magn  P/F and are 

Additions during the year ....................................................................

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units was based on their value in use and was determined by
discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the CGU. Cash flows were projected based
CGU´s business plans prepared by management and confirmed by the Board of Directors.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent assessment of future trends in the fuel industry
and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data). Value in use was based on the following
key assumptions:

Iceland Faroe Islands

specified as follows:
Other intangible assets 1.1.2019 .........................................................
Additions during the year ....................................................................

Long term growth rate.....................................................
Average gross profit growth............................................
Average EBITDA growth..................................................

Translation difference .........................................................................
Balance 31 December 2020 ................................................................

Additions during the year ....................................................................
Disposals during the year ....................................................................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Balance 31 December 2019 ................................................................

WACC.............................................................................
Debt leverage..................................................................
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5.716 1.683 7.399 
2 2)(                       0 

604 265 868 
21)(                     140)(                  161)(                    
22 17 39 

6.323 1.822 8.145 
614 352 966 

48)(                     67)(                    115)(                    
62 89 152 

6.951 2.196 9.148 

Rental agreements
866 21 887 

12 0 12 
718 14 732 
136)(                  12)(                    147)(                    

3 0 3 
1.462 24 1.486

49 0 49
368 24 392

-258 -11 -269
24 0 24

1.646 36 1.682

9.164 1.221 10.385 
9.145 1.668 10.813 

10.900 1.850 12.750 

2-9% 8 - 25%
11 - 50 years 4 - 13 years

2020 2019
77 67 

1.230 1.025 
1.307 1.093 

2020 2019
8,0% 8,4%
2,5% 2,5%

3,0% 6,5%) (                

20. Tax assessment value and insurance value of buildings

Depreciation .......................................................................................

Balance at 31.12 2019 .........................................................................

Depreciation and impairment of assets are specified as follows:

Disposals during the year ....................................................................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Balance 31 December 2019 ................................................................

Depreciation of intangible assets .................................................................................

Book value 1 January 2019 ..................................................................
Book value 31 December 2019 ............................................................
Book value 31 December 2020 ............................................................

Depreciation ratios ..............................................................................
Estimated useful life ............................................................................

Adjustments for indexed leases ...........................................................
New or renewed leases .......................................................................
Depreciation .......................................................................................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Balance at 31.12 2020 .........................................................................

Translation difference .........................................................................

Translation difference .........................................................................
Balance 31 December 2020 ................................................................

Adjustments for indexed leases ...........................................................
New or renewed leases .......................................................................

Recognised on initial application, 1.1.2019 .........................................

Depreciated 1 January 2019 ................................................................

Depreciation for the year .....................................................................
Reclassification of assets ......................................................................

Depreciation for the year .....................................................................
Sold during the year ............................................................................

Discount rate (WACC) .................................................................................................
Future growth rate (nominal) ......................................................................................
Average EBITDA growth rate (average of next five years) .............................................

The discount rate (WACC) conforms to market information at year end where debt leverage is 48% and market
interest rate 6,6% for comparable companies.

Changes in WACC by +2% or EBITDA -5% would not cause an impairment.

Depreciation of operating assets and rental agreements .............................................
Total  ..........................................................................................................................

Impairment testing of operating assets
An impairment test was performed at year end 2020 on the book value of the Company's oil depots in Iceland and
they were classified as separate cash generating units as in the year 2019. It is the view of management and the Board
of Directors that it is more prudent to test the standalone value of the oil depots in evaluating the book value of
operating assets. 

Based on the impairment test results, there is no impairment in the year.
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount are set out below. The values assigned to the
key assumptions represent management´s assessment of future trends in the relevant industries and have been based 
on historical data.
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21. Pledged assets

22. Investments in associated companies

Share
 Share in 
earnings Book value

Share in 
earnings Book value

33,3% 35)(                83 17 118 
33,3% 0 10 1)(                       9 
25,0% 24)(                132 13 156 
50,0% 0)(                  18 2 18 
16,9% 44)(                118 170)(                  86 
20,0% 14 40 7 21 
25,0% 0 120 0 0 

89)(                521 132)(                  409 

23. Long term receivables
Long term receivables are specified as follows: 2020 2019

56 15 
27)(                    15)(                       
29 0 

24. Inventories
Inventories are specified as follows:

1.564 2.377 
328 316 
812 620 

2.705 3.313 

25. Trade receivables

    companies total 

Financial Statements for the year 2020 for some of the associated companies were not available when the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the Group were signed and in those cases the share in net profit was based on
available drafts of the 2020 Financial Statements.

The Company uses derivative contracts as hedging instruments in a fair value hedge of fluctuations in the market price
of fuel. The aim of the hedging instruments is solely to limit the effect of fluctuations in oil prices on the consolidated
financial statements. Usually, the derivative contracts are not for a longer period than 45 days. The profit or loss on the
derivative contracts is recognised together with the hedged inventory and recognised in the income statement when
the hedged inventory is sold. 

There is no tax assessment on assets in Faroe Islands but the carrying value on buildings amounted to ISK 2,795
million at year end (2019: ISK 2,437 million). The insurance value of buildings and other assets amounted to ISK 3,382
million at the end of 2020 (2019: ISK 3,192 million).

 Other companies ......................................

The insurance value of the buildings in Iceland amounted to ISK 9,532 million at year end (2019: ISK 8,540 million).
The tax assessment value of the buildings and land in Iceland amounted to ISK 3,995 million at year end (2019: ISK
4,019 million). The insurance value of vehicles, machinery and equipment in Iceland amounted to ISK 1,898 million at
year end (2019: ISK 1,981 million).

 Vegsauki ehf., Iceland ...............................
 Wedo ehf, Iceland .....................................

Skeljungur has signed pledge agreement with Íslandsbanki for part of its oil depots and real estate. Additionally,
Íslandsbanki has a pledge in part of the inventories and bank accounts of Skeljungur. 

Furthermore, Betri banki in the Faroe Islands has a pledge in shares in Magn and the Company has pledged its current
assets in the amount of ISK 2,098 million and fixed assets in the amount of ISK 4,028 million.

 P/F Jarðhiti, Faroe Islands ..........................

 Fjölver ehf., Iceland ...................................
 EBK ehf, Iceland ........................................

 Fuel  ...........................................................................................................................
 Lubricating oils  ..........................................................................................................
 Other inventories  ......................................................................................................
 Total inventories  ........................................................................................................

 Current maturities for long term receivables ...............................................................
 Total long term receivables ........................................................................................

 Interest bearing long term receivables .......................................................................

Investment in associated  

2020 2019

 EAK ehf., Iceland .......................................
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Trade receivables are specified as follows: 2020 2019

3.340 3.768 
195)(                  160)(                    

3.145 3.608 

26. Other receivables
Other receivables are specified as follows:

89 44 

42 1 

21 10 

77 78 
229 133 

27. Equity
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(v)

The Group's exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is
explained in note 33.

 Receivables due from the government .......................................................................

 Other receivables .......................................................................................................

 Total trade receivables ...............................................................................................

 Current maturities for long term receivables ...............................................................

 Prepaid expenses .......................................................................................................

On 21 April 2017 the Company started to apply hedge accounting on net investments due to foreign exchange risk
which arises between the functional currency of the subsidiary Magn P/F, in DKK, and the Company's functional
currency, ISK. The Company's investment in Magn is hedged in part with the Company's borrowing in DKK, but the
book value of the loan was DKK 133 million at year end. The Company has recognised the loan in full as hedge
instrument due to foreign exchange risk arising out of the corresponding amount af net investment in Magn.

Reserve for share options
On 9 November 2014, the Group granted the CEO and CFO of its subsidiary Magn in Faroe Islands share options that
entitle them to purchase shares at the rate of 2.82. On 31 October 2017 the owners utilised 97% of the share purchase
option. Remaining are rights to purchase 811,078 shares each in the company, but the rights are redeemable at
termination of employment. According to the Company´s articles of association the Board of Directors has
authorisation to issue new share capital to fulfil these obligations. A reserve has been made in equity to meet this
obligation and cost related to these share options has been fully expensed.

Translation difference
Translation difference comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the Group's
proportionate share in certain subsidiaries and associates and due to hedging of net investments, but the aim of the
hedge instrument is to decrease the foreign exchange difference effects due to share in the subsidiary Magn.

Issued capital
Issued share capital, as stipulated in the articles of association, amounted to ISK 1,986 million (2019: ISK
2,152 million). One vote is attached to each share of one ISK in the Company. The Board of Directors has received
permission to increase the share capital for up to ISK 811 thousand in order to fulfil obligations towards employees of
Skeljungur and its subsidiaries regarding purchase of shares in the Company.

Share premium
Share premium represents excess of payment above nominal value that shareholders have paid for shares sold by the
Company. 

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Icelandic Company Act, the Company must contribute an amount corresponding to 25% of
the nominal value of share capital of the Company in statutory reserve, which cannot be distributed to shareholders as
dividend. When contributing to the statutory reserve, 10% of the annual profit shall be allocated until 10% of the
nominal value of share capital has been reached and following that 5% of the annual profit until 25% of the nominal
value of share capital has been reached. There are no further requirements for contribution to statutory reserve.

 Total other receivables at year end .............................................................................

Translation difference, contd.:

 Nominal value of trade receivables .............................................................................
 Allowance for bad debt ...............................................................................................
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(vi) Reserve for share in profit from subsidiaries and associated companies

(vii)

(viii)

(viii)

28. Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share 2020 2019

759 1.372

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
1.986 2.053

21)(                    37)(                       
1.965 2.015

0,39 0,68 

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares
1.986 2.053 

21)(                    37)(                       
1 1

1.966 2.016

0,39 0,68 

29. Deferred tax liability

Effect of share option agreements ...............................................................................

Weighted average number of shares ...........................................................................

Retained earnings

The Company's Board of Directors' policy is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain future development of the
business. 

The Company has approved a dividend policy and the aim is to distribute annual dividend to shareholders
corresponding to 30-50% of the profit in dividend payments or repurchase of shares. Prerequisite for dividend
payment is that the Company remains financially strong, including taking into account cash as well as the Company's
financing agreements allowing for such payments. The equity ratio was 38.9% at year end 2020 (2019: 40.2%).

There were no changes in the approach to capital management during the year and the Group is not
obligated to comply with external rules on minimum equity other than those required pursuant to covenants in its
loan agreements.

Profit for the year (Owners of the company) ................................................................

Shares on 1 January .....................................................................................................
Effect of repurchases of own shares .............................................................................

Capital management

Dividend
The Board of Directors proposes that dividend of 350 million ISK, will be paid out to shareholders in the year 2021.
The Board of Directors will make a proposal to the Annual General Meeting to repurchase own shares.

Include profit from equity accounted investees (subsidiaries and associated companies), recognised in the income
statement and exceeds dividends received from those companies or the dividend that has been decided to distribute,
in a specific reserve within equity. 

Profit for the year is recognised as increase in retained earnings less contribution to the statutory reserve and dividend
payments. Retained earnings can be distributed to the Company as dividend.

Diluted earnings per share ..........................................................................................

The Company measures the functionality of the hedge in relation to the amount of the hedged net asset. In so far as
the hedge is active, the translation difference due to the loan is recognised among other earnings and accumulates in
hedge account among equity. The Company will not reclassify translation difference from equity to income statement
if the Company will dispose of Magn. The Company recognised any inactivity, if any, immediately in the income
statement. There was no inactivitiy in hedge of net investments for foreign exchange risk in the period.

Basic earnings per share .............................................................................................

Shares on 1 January .....................................................................................................
Effect of repurchases of own shares .............................................................................

Weighted average number of shares ...........................................................................
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2020 2019

403 671 
42 273)(                    
58 3 
96)(                    30)(                       

192 357 
207)(                  326)(                    
392 403 

The Group´s deferred tax liability is attributable to the following items:

719 541 
71 69 

139 91 
19)(                    5)(                          
70)(                    23)(                       

403)(                  251)(                    
45)(                    19)(                       

392 403 

30. Lease liabilities

2020 2019

1.600 958 
( 242) ( 135)

437 774 
25 3 

1.820 1.600 

Effects o leases in statement of comprehensive income is divided as follows:

103 59 
255 147 

Maturity analysis:

212 208 
738 627 
871 765 

1.820 1.600 

31. Loans and borrowings

Deferred tax liability at year end ..................................................................................

Income tax due to changes in equity ...........................................................................

Deferred tax liability is specified as follows:

Difference btw. estimated and imposed charges for the prev. year ..............................
Deferred tax liability at the beginning of the year .........................................................

Operating assets .........................................................................................................
Intangible assets .........................................................................................................
Inventories .................................................................................................................
Trade receivables  .......................................................................................................
Currency adjustments .................................................................................................

The group rents office and commercial premesis. These lease agreements are mostly from 5 to 25 years with 
possibility of renewal in the end of the lease period. In addition the group rents vehicles and those agreements are 
ususally from 1 to 3 years with possibility of renewal in the end of the lease period.

Lease liabilities are specified as follows:

Lease liability 1.1 .................................................................................
Installments on lease liabilities ............................................................

Carryforward losses ....................................................................................................

At year-end 2020, the carryforward tax losses of group companies amounts to ISK 1,900 million. The loss is deductible
against taxable income for ten years from its inception. The tax asset will start to expire at the end of 2021 but 88% of
the loss will expire in the years 2025-2030.

Other items ................................................................................................................

Translation difference .................................................................................................

Income tax expensed from continuing operations .......................................................
Income tax payable .....................................................................................................
Deferred tax liability at year end ..................................................................................

New lease agreements and adjustments for indexed leases .................
Translation difference .........................................................................
Lease liability 31.12. ............................................................................

Interest payments of lease liabilities .....................................................
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ......................................................

Not later than 1 year ............................................................................
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years ..........................................
Later than 5 years ................................................................................
Total ...................................................................................................

Consolidated  Financial Statements of Skeljungur hf. 2020 31 Amounts are in millions



________________________________________________________________________________________________

Notes

2020 2019

6.527 9.652 

3.107 1.945 
0 342 

1.792)(             5.532)(                
1.316 3.246)(                

763 121 
763 121 

8.606 6.527 

Long-term debt

507 1.567 
5.728 4.457 
6.236 6.024 

531)(                  544)(                    
5.705 5.481 

Current debt

531 544 
2.370 503 
2.901 1.047 

8.606 6.527 

Terms for interest bearing debt

Final due Average Carrying Average Carrying 
Loans in foreign currencies:  date int. rate amount int. rate amount 

2028 2,5% 5.728 2,4% 4.457 
2021 3,7% 264 5,2% 253 
2021 2,4% 0 2,4% 1 

5.992 4.711 
Loans in ISK:

2029 3,4% 507 5,0% 1.567 
2021 2,9% 2.106 4,8% 249 

2.614 1.816 

8.606 6.527 

Aggregated annual maturities of long-term debt are specified as follows: 2020 2019
0 544 

531 538 
539 536 
548 541 
557 547 
567 554 

3.493 2.765 
6.236 6.024 

32. Other current liabilities

Other changes due to interest bearing debt ................................................................

Interest bearing debt at 31.12. ....................................................................................

Interest bearing debt at 1.1. ........................................................................................

Changes du to financing activities ...............................................................................

New interest-bearing loans .........................................................................................

Repayment of interest-bearing loans ...........................................................................
Acquired interest-bearing loans from business acquisition ..........................................

Translation difference  .................................................................................................

Long-term debt in ISK .................................................................................................

2019

Total long-term interest bearing debt ..........................................................................

Current maturities ......................................................................................................
Current bankloans ......................................................................................................

2020 ...........................................................................................................................
2021 ...........................................................................................................................
2022 ...........................................................................................................................
2023 ...........................................................................................................................

Long term loans in DKK ..............................
Current loans in USD ..................................
Current loans in DKK ..................................

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings ........................................

Long-term loans ..........................................
Short-term loans .........................................

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate, foreign
currency and liquidity risk, see note 33.

2024 ...........................................................................................................................

Subsequent ................................................................................................................
Long-term debt including current maturities ...............................................................

Loan agreements include various financial covenants the Group must comply with, such as equity, leverage and
liquidity ratios. At year end, the Group was in full compliance with these financial covenants.

2025 ...........................................................................................................................

2020

Interest bearing short-term debt .................................................................................

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings ................................................................

Long-term debt in foreign currencies ..........................................................................
Total long-term debt, including current maturities  .....................................................
Current maturities ......................................................................................................

Consolidated  Financial Statements of Skeljungur hf. 2020 32 Amounts are in millions



________________________________________________________________________________________________

Notes

Other current liabilities are specified as follows: 2020 2019
1.453 2.248 

531 444 
5 14 

116 209 
2.104 2.914 

33. Risk management
Overview

Risk management framework

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

Notes 2020 2019
23. 29 0 
25. 3.145 3.608 
26. 229 133 

1.078 506 
4.481 4.248 

Impairment

Long term loans ..................................................................................
Trade receivables ................................................................................
Other receivables ................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................................................

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Other current liabilities ...............................................................................................
Other current liabilities total ........................................................................................

The Group's activities are exposed to financial risk consisting of credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk
consists of interest rate risk, oil price risk and currency risk.

This note presents information about the exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further quantitative
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Board of Directors and CEO are leading the worth of developing strategy, setting goals and defining the Group's
risk benchmarks, in addition to implementing effective internal controls. A risk management committee operates
under the Board of Skeljungur. It is entrusted with confirming the effectiveness of internal controls within the
Company. Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The
aim of the Company is to manage risk efficiently and ensure awareness on transparency of risk management at all
stages. The Company's risk management aims at risk being in proportion with risk appetite and policy of the
Company and thus contribute to increased stability and long term profit.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents an estimate of expected losses of trade and other
receivables. The allowance includes both a specific allowance that relates to individually significant exposures, and a
collective allowance. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for
similar receivables, age determination of receivables and economic conditions.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet

Exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of customers, in addition to the status of
the industry the largest customers of the Company operate within, i.e. transportation, fishing industry and
contractors. Approximately 63.4% (2019: 63.2%) of the receivables are attributable to the 30 largest
customers. In Magn it is approximately 50.2% (2019: 47.1%).

The Group has set a credit policy which aims at minimising risk bearing in mind financial position, credit rating and
operations of individual customers, in addition to the status of the largest customer's industry sectors. All of the
Group's customers have credit limits to their accounts which they cannot exceed.

Accrued interests ........................................................................................................

Payable to the government .........................................................................................
Salary related expenses ...............................................................................................
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Nominal Carrying 
Year 2020 value Impairment amount 

2.656 0 2.656 
399 32)(                    368 

71 21)(                    50 
162 110)(                  52 

51 32)(                    19 
3.340 195)(                  3.145 

Year 2019
2.901 0 2.901 

605 35)(                    570 
67 15)(                    53 

170 94)(                    76 
21 13)(                    9 

3.765 156)(                  3.608 

2020 2019

156 136 
16)(                    39)(                       
39 54 
16 5 

195 156 

Nominal Specific General Carrying 
value write-down write-down amount 

Year 2020
667 8)(                        8)(                       651
785 3)(                        22)(                    761

1.317 2)(                        17)(                    1.298
570 80)(                     55)(                    435

3.340 92)(                     102)(                  3.145

Year 2019
851 16)(                     15)(                    820
980 30)(                     4)(                       946
362 18)(                     4)(                       341

1.571 49)(                     20)(                    1.502
3.765 113)(                  43)(                    3.608

Liquidity risk

Neither past due nor impaired .............................................................
Past due 0 - 30 days .............................................................................
Past due 31 - 60 days  ..........................................................................
Past due 61 - 90 days ...........................................................................
Past due more than 90 days .................................................................

The aging of trade receivables and impairment at the reporting date was as follows:

 Depreciated in the year ..............................................................................................
 Balance at 1 January ...................................................................................................

Changes in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired .............................................................
Past due 0 - 30 days .............................................................................
Past due 31 - 60 days  ..........................................................................
Past due 61 - 90 days ...........................................................................
Past due more than 90 days .................................................................

 Impairment losses recognized ....................................................................................

 Balance at 31 December ............................................................................................
 Translation difference .................................................................................................

Transportation ................................................................
Contractors and agriculture ............................................
Other industries and individuals ......................................

The Group´s trade receivables are specified as follows at year end by industries:

Other financial assets subject to credit risk are not impaired since risk of loss is not considered significant.

Other industries and individuals ......................................

Allowance for impairment is expensed with distribution cost in the income statement.

Fishing industry ..............................................................

Fishing industry ..............................................................
Transportation ................................................................
Contractors and agriculture ............................................
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Booked Total Within After After Over 
value payment a year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years 5 years 

Year end 2020
8.606 9.548 695 3.738 1.363 3.752
4.556 4.556 4.556

13.162 14.104 5.251 3.738 1.363 3.752

1.820 2.216 212 554 371 1.079

Year end 2019
6.527 7.803 1.089 1.774 1.301 3.639
5.850 5.850 5.850 0 0 0

12.377 13.653 6.939 1.774 1.301 3.639

1.600 1.913 208 337 290 1.077

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies
other than ISK. The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are US Dollar (USD) and Euro
(EUR). The major part of imports is purchase of oil, denominated in USD from foreign suppliers but the sales are in
great part in ISK. Sales in ISK constitute 79.5% of total sales (2019: 68.7%), USD 19.1% (2019: 29.6%) and other
currencies 1.4% (2019: 1.7%).

Magn is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currencies other than DKK. The
currency in which these transactions are primarily denominated is US Dollar (USD). The major part of imports are
purchase of oil, denominated in USD from foreign suppliers, but the sales are in greater part in DKK. Sales in DKK
constitute 77.7% of total sales (2019: 71.5%), USD 21.4% (2019: 27.9%) and other currencies 0.9% (2019: 0.6%).

Currency risk, contd.:

Price risk
The Group is exposed to significant price risk due to changes in world market oil prices, which have fluctuated
significantly in the past few years. The difference between purchase price and sale price can have direct effect on the
Group's gross profit. Furthermore, high oil prices can in some instances decrease demand and thus effect earnings.
The risk is reduced by means of specific agreements with the Group's largest customers. The Group also uses forward
contracts in order to reduce price risk.

Following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments:

Interest bearing debt ............
Trade and other payables ......

Lease liabilities ......................

Interest bearing debt ............
Trade and other payables ......

Lease liabilities ......................

Market risk is the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates, oil prices and interest rates having affect the
income or the value of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

Currency risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The approach to managing liquidity is to
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses.

The Groups liquidity was strong at year end 2020 and management considers that the Group is in a good position to
meet its obligations when due. In addition to the current liabilities the Group has access to a credit line in the amount
of ISK 3,790 million which will mature in 2022. At year end the Company had used ISK 2,370 million of the credit line. 
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Other  
2020 USD EUR DKK currencies 

519 0 6 0
44 15 10 0

264)(             0 0 0
879)(             108)(                  3)(                       2)(                          
580)(             93)(                     13 1)(                          

Other  
2019 USD EUR DKK currencies 

807 16 0 0
129 34 3 0

253)(             0 0 0
1.141)(         132)(                  5)(                       1)(                          

458)(             82)(                     2)(                       0)(                          

The following exchange rates were used during the year:

2020 2019 2020 2019
135,27 122,65 127,21 121,10
154,52 137,30 156,10 135,83

20,73 18,39 20,98 18,18

Sensitivity analysis

2020 2019

46 37
7 7

1)(                       0

Interest rate risk

Other market risk

EUR ............................................................................................................................
DKK ............................................................................................................................

Exposure to interest rate risk involves the Group being negatively affected due to changes in interest rates. The
Groups loans and borrowings are all on floating interests. The Groups interest bearing assets are on the other hand
very limited and the Group is exposed to risk from an increase in interest rates. An increase in interest rates leads to an
increase in financial items and cash flow risk. As is described in discussion on liquidity risk, the approach to
managing the risk is to always have sufficient liquidity to meets its liabilities.

The Group's long term borrowings are subject to variable interest rates. An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss and equity before income tax by
ISK 86 million (2019: 65 million) due to effects of the Group's borrowings on floating interests. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for the year 2019.

USD  ...............................................................................
EUR ................................................................................
DKK ................................................................................

A 10 percent strengthening of the ISK against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased
(decreased) profit or loss after tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2019.

Profit (loss)

Loans and borrowings .....................................................
Payables .........................................................................
Balance sheet risk ...........................................................

Average exchange rate End of year exchange rate

USD  ...........................................................................................................................

Payables .........................................................................
Balance sheet risk ...........................................................

Receivables ....................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ..............................................

Informationon effects of translation differences in relation to recalculation of accounts of foreign subsidiaries and
associates is in note 27v, but this exposes the Company to a considerable risk. Translation difference is due to the
operations of P/F Magn, Skeljungur's subsidiary, which functional currency is DKK.

Receivables ....................................................................
Cash and cash equivalents ..............................................
Loans and borrowings .....................................................
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Classification of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as follows at book value:

Other 
Loans and financial  Carrying 

receivables liabilities amount 
2020

3.145 0 3.145
229 0 229

1.078 0 1.078
4.481 0 4.481

0 8.606 8.606
0 1.820 1.820
0 2.448 2.448
0 2.105 2.105
0 14.978 14.978

Other 
Loans and financial  Carrying 

receivables liabilities amount 
2019

3.608 0 3.608
133 0 133
506 0 506

4.248 0 4.248

0 6.527 6.527
0 1.600 1.600
0 2.851 2.851
0 2.914 2.914
0 13.893 13.893

Fair values

34. Operating lease

Derivative agreements made by the Group in order to hedge for foreign exchange risk or risk due to changes in world
market oil prices are recognised at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement among
cost of sold goods. Fair value of derivatives agreements is insignificant at year end.

Trade and other receivables are not discounted at the market interest rate as the difference between their fair value
and their carrying amount is insignificant. The fair value of payable to credit institutions, which is only determined for
disclosure purposes, is the estimated future cash flows discounted at the market interest rate at the reporting date.
Interest on payables to credit institutions are market rates. Therefore the difference between their book value and fair
value is insignificant each period.  Fair value liabilities falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Total assets .........................................................................................

Loans and borrowings .........................................................................

Trade payables ....................................................................................
Other payables  ...................................................................................
Total liabilities .....................................................................................

Lease liabilites .....................................................................................

Loans and borrowings .........................................................................

Trade payables ....................................................................................
Other payables  ...................................................................................
Total liabilities .....................................................................................

Trade receivables ................................................................................
Other receivables ................................................................................

Lease liabilites .....................................................................................

Cash and cash equivalent ....................................................................

Trade receivables ................................................................................
Other receivables ................................................................................
Cash and cash equivalent ....................................................................
Total assets .........................................................................................

Other market risk is related to investments in bonds and shares and are considered insignificant.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified into certain categories. The classification of financial assets and financial
liabilities affects how the respective financial instruments are measured after initial recognition. The classification of
financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company and their measurement basis is specified as follows:

- Loans and receivables are recognised at amortised cost.
- Other financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.
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Rental income

2020 2019

113 89
138 171

37 0
288 260

35. Related parties
Definition of related parties:

Transactions with associated companies 2020 2019

120 186
13 23
18 3

4 16

Salaries paid to the Board of Directors and managers

2020 Contr. to Shares at  year

Salaries pension funds end 2020*

8 1 734.116
6 1 0
4 1 1.250
3 0 0
3 0 734.116
2 0 0
1 0 0

43 0 0
49 13 0

164 24 0
284 40 1.469.483

Sold goods and services ..............................................................................................
Receivables at year end ...............................................................................................

Shareholders, subsidiaries, associated companies, directors, keymanagers and companies in which they own majority
of the shares are considered to be related parties. The transactions were carried out on an arm's length basis.

Purchased goods and services ....................................................................................

Total salaries and benefits ...................................................................

* Executives refers to a five-member Executive Board, of which one member started in September 2020. Bonus
payments due to settlement of an older wage bonus system, for 2019 and 2020, together with wage-related
payments are included in the amounts above as follows: The CEO received an ISK 4.1 million bonus payment for 2019
and will receive an ISK 3.7 million bonus payment for 2020. Executives were paid a total of ISK 10.9 million due to the
settlement of an older wage bonus system, ISK 24.6 million as bonus payment for 2019 and will receive ISK 11.5
million as bonus payment for 2020.

Birna Ósk Einarsdóttir, Vice Chairman of the Board .............................
Dagný Halldórsdóttir, Board member .................................................
Elín Jónsdóttir, Board member ............................................................

*Other executives ...............................................................................

Jens Meinhard Rasmussen, Board member ..........................................
Þórarinn Arnar Sævarsson, Board member ..........................................

Ata Maria Bærentsen, Board member ..................................................
Hendrik Egholm, former CEO ..............................................................
*Árni Pétur Jónsson, CEO ....................................................................

Payables at year end ...................................................................................................

Salaries and benefits is specified as follows:

Jón Ásgeir Jóhannesson, Chairman of the Board ..................................

The Group leases premises to various parties. Some of the rental agreements are indeterminate but the lease term of
other agreements are from 2 - 21 years. Rental income in the year 2020 amounted to ISK 201 million (2019: ISK 86
million). Most of the rental agreements are price indexed. Obligation of the lessees due to indeterminate agreements
is only calculated for one year. Total obligations of lessees without taking into account future inflations is specified as
follows. 

Within one year ..........................................................................................................
After 1 - 5 years ...........................................................................................................
After 5 years ................................................................................................................
Total ...........................................................................................................................

*shares in thousands

Salaries paid to the Board of Directors and managers, contd.:
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2019 Contr. to Shares at 
Salaries pension funds year-end 2019

2 0 0
5 1 0
1 0 0

11 1 0
1 0 0
2 0 0
4 0 0
3 0 242.500
3 0 183.000

62 0 1.644
17 4 2.350

206 25 0
315 33 429.494

36. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries:

2020 2019
100% 100%

90% 90%
100% 100%

66% 66%
100% 100%
100%
100%
100% 100%

70% 70%

37. Other matters

37. Other matters, contd.:

Tollvörugeymsla Skeljungs ehf., Iceland ......................................................................

The Icelandic Competition preliminary findings on whether there is need to take action against
circumstances and conduct which are considered to impede competition, to the detriment of the public, was
published on 30 November 2015. It should be noted that the examination was not directed specifically at the
Company itself but rather at the fuel market as a whole. All parties connected to the fuel market were given the
opportunity to submit their comments on the report and Skeljungur submitted its reasoned comments objecting to
the conclusion, calculation methodology and the calculation criteria. With a letter dated 18 December 2020 the ICA
confirmed that there will be no further intervention against Skeljungur on the basis of this market research. In the
same letter the ICA confirmed the conclusion of other matters involving Skeljungur, most of which were related to the
issues being examined in the market research. The ICA has thereby confirmed the conclusion of all regulatory issues
involving Skeljungur hf. It must be noted, however, that acquisition of all the shares in Port I ehf., the
holding company of Dælan and Löður, are in process before the ICA. 

Shares

Bensínorkan ehf., Iceland ............................................................................................

Barkur ehf, Iceland ......................................................................................................

P/F Demich, Færeyjar .................................................................................................

Basko ehf, Iceland .......................................................................................................
26 Fasteign .................................................................................................................

Salaries and benefits is specified as follows:

Jón Diðrik Jónsson, Chairman of the board ...........................................
Birna Ósk Einarsdóttir, Board member ................................................

No loans have been granted to the Members of the Board and the CEO of the Company. 

Gunn Ellefsen, Board member .............................................................
Jens Meinhard Rasmussen, Board member ..........................................

Baldur Már Helgason, Board member .................................................

*Other executives ...............................................................................

*Other executives covers 3 executive directors of divisions at Skeljungur and 2 former executive directors, which
ceased working in 2019. Bonus payments and wage-related payments are included in these numbers.

Kjartan Örn Sigurðsson, Board member ..............................................

Hendrik Egholm, CEO .........................................................................
Árni Pétur Jónsson, CEO ......................................................................

Þórarinn Arnar Sævarsson, Board member ..........................................

The shares above include the shares of spouses, financially incompetent minors and financially competent individuals
with the same legal domicile, together with shares owned by Companies which the Executives control.

Langholt .....................................................................................................................
P/F Magn, Færeyjar ....................................................................................................

Ata Maria Bærentsen, Board member ..................................................
Jón Ásgeir Jóhannesson, Vice Chairman of the Board ...........................

Total salaries and benefits ...................................................................

Íslenska vetnisfélagið ehf., Iceland ..............................................................................
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38. Financial Ratios

2020 2019
Operations:   

22,9% 17,0%
28,3% 39,3%
14,5% 26,8%
42,8% 32,0%
25,5% 24,8%
75,1% 63,5%

8,1% 15,0%

Balance Sheet:
0,94 1,03
0,59 0,58
2,73 1,76

38,9% 40,2%
5,1 4,9 

Gross profit as proportion to sales ...............................................................................

Current ratio - Current assets / current liabilities ..........................................................
Quick ratio - (Current assets - inventory) / current liabilities .........................................

In November 2020, Skeljungur hf. acquired all the shares in Port I ehf., the holding company of Dælan ehf. and Löður
ehf. The acquisition is subject to several criteria and reservations, i.a. the approval of the Icelandic Competition
Authority. The acquisition price which Skeljungur will pay is in the range of ISK 910 - 1.150 million. At the signature
date of the Financial Statements the Icelandic Competition Authority has not authorized the acquisition.

In January 2021, a decision was made to participate in the increase of share capital in the affiliated company Wedo ehf.
This involves an additional investment amounting to ISK 227.5 million and Skeljungur's share will be 25% after the
increase of share capital. 

On 20 January 2020 the Board of Directors decided to initiate proceedings against the Icelandic State (the Transport
Compensation Fund) to apply for reimbursement of invalid payments made by Skeljungur to the Transport
Compensation Fund. Skeljungur calls for refunding amounting to ISK 448 million. Skeljungur considers these fees
invalid and therefore calls for refunding of the fees which the Transport Compensation Fund has excessively levied
upon Skeljungur. These fees were based on the provisions of Act No. 103/1994 on the Compensation for Transport
Costs of Oil Products. The basis of Skeljungur's case is that the provisions of the aforementioned Act did not fulfil the
constitutional requirements for fully authorized tax levying pursuant to Articles 40 and 77 of the Constitution. The
principal hearing of the case will take place on 10 February 2021. 

NIBD/EBITDA .............................................................................................................
Equity ratio - Shareholders' equity / total assets ...........................................................
Internal value of share capital  - Total equity / Share capital ..........................................

EBITDA / gross profit ...................................................................................................
EBIT / gross profit .......................................................................................................
Salaries / gross profit ..................................................................................................
Sales and distribution / gross profit .............................................................................
Operating expenses / gross profit ...............................................................................
Return on equity .........................................................................................................
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Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2020 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2019

10.970 9.433 11.642 9.157 41.203 11.506 13.356 15.143 11.934 51.939
8.641)(       7.148)(       8.983)(       6.977)(       31.748)(    9.399)(       11.237)(    12.712)(    9.888)(       43.236)(    

Gross profit 2.329 2.285 2.659 2.181 9.454 2.107 2.119 2.431 2.046 8.703

48 81 81 112 323 41 38 82 82 243

999)(           1.031)(       944)(           1.073)(       4.047)(       606)(           710)(           612)(           861)(           2.788)(       
596)(           566)(           609)(           636)(           2.407)(       494)(           531)(           539)(           595)(           2.159)(       
169)(           137)(           149)(           192)(           647)(           156)(           136)(           125)(           160)(           577)(           

1.764)(       1.733)(       1.703)(       1.901)(       7.101)(       1.256)(       1.377)(       1.275)(       1.616)(       5.525)(       

614 633 1.038 391 2.676 892 780 1.238 512 3.422

312)(           331)(           331)(           333)(           1.307)(       261)(           268)(           264)(           299)(           1.093)(       

302 302 707 58 1.369 631 511 974 213 2.329

6 8 4 112 130 5 10 7 8 29
88)(              110)(           108)(           125)(           431)(           116)(           122)(           134)(           88)(              460)(           
82)(              101)(           104)(           13)(              301)(           111)(           112)(           127)(           80)(              430)(           

17)(              53)(              19)(              1 88)(              12)(              29)(              58)(              34)(              132)(           

 202 147 584 46 980 508 370 788 100 1.767

43)(              33)(              113)(           1 188)(           97)(              75)(              163)(           23)(              358)(           

159 114 470 48 791 411 295 626 77 1.409

Other comprehensive income that will be 

reclassifed to profit or loss:

612 23 222 206)(           652 130 135 199)(           38 104 

445)(           9)(                 151)(           127 478)(           88)(              104)(           159 15)(              47)(              

89 2 30 25)(              96 18 21 32)(              3 9 

256 16 101 104)(           269 60 52 72)(              26 66 

415 130 572 57)(            1.060 471 347 554 103 1.475

Sales and distribution expenses* .................................
Operating expenses* ..................................................

EBITDA ................................................................

Depreciation and impairment of operating assets ........

Quarterly Overview
Unaudited

Total comprehensive (loss) income .......................

EBIT

Financial income .........................................................
Financial expenses ......................................................

Profit before income tax ...........................................................................................................

Other income ..............................................................

Translation difference of net investment hedge ...........

Income tax relating to net investment hedge .........

Sales ...........................................................................
Cost of goods sold .......................................................

Share of profit from associated companies ..................

Salaries and salary related expenses ............................

Income tax expense ....................................................

Profit for the period..........................................................................................................................

Translation differene of associates and subsidiaries .....



 

  

 

 

 

 

 
1 http://business.nasdaq.com/list/Rules-and-Regulations/European-rules/nasdaq-iceland/index.html  
2 https://www.vi.is/files/%C3%BAtg%C3%A1fa/sk%C3%BDrslur/leidbeiningar_um_stjornarhaetti_fyrirtaekja.pdf 
3 https://www.skeljungur.is/stefnur-reglur  

http://business.nasdaq.com/list/Rules-and-Regulations/European-rules/nasdaq-iceland/index.html
https://www.vi.is/files/útgáfa/skýrslur/leidbeiningar_um_stjornarhaetti_fyrirtaekja.pdf
https://www.skeljungur.is/stefnur-reglur
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4 http://www.skeljungur.is/um-skeljung/stjornarhaettir/stefnur-og-reglur/ 

http://www.skeljungur.is/um-skeljung/stjornarhaettir/stefnur-og-reglur/
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5 See link above. 
6 See link above. 



 

  

 

 



 

  

 

 

 

 
7 https://www.personuvernd.is/urlausnir/medferd-skeljungs-hf.-a-tolvupostholfi-starfsmanns-vid-starfslok  

https://www.personuvernd.is/urlausnir/medferd-skeljungs-hf.-a-tolvupostholfi-starfsmanns-vid-starfslok


 

  

 

 
8 https://www.haestirettur.is/default.aspx?pageid=347c3bb1-8926-11e5-80c6-005056bc6a40&id=7a62d4ca-e42a-4d48-

83c3-32168652d129 
9 http://www.neytendastofa.is/library/Files/Neytendarettarsvid/akvardanir/%C3%81kv2015_45.pdf 

https://www.haestirettur.is/default.aspx?pageid=347c3bb1-8926-11e5-80c6-005056bc6a40&id=7a62d4ca-e42a-4d48-83c3-32168652d129
https://www.haestirettur.is/default.aspx?pageid=347c3bb1-8926-11e5-80c6-005056bc6a40&id=7a62d4ca-e42a-4d48-83c3-32168652d129
http://www.neytendastofa.is/library/Files/Neytendarettarsvid/akvardanir/Ákv2015_45.pdf
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IV.  

 

 

 

Customers, 
including 

consumers and the 
consumer market

Shareholders
Board Directors 
and employees

Partners and 
suppliers

Creditors

Regulatory 
authorities

Society The environment The media The legislator
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http://www.humanrights.is/en/human-rights-education-project/human-rights-concepts-ideas-and-fora
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UN Sustainable Development Goals  
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Actions UN Sustainable Development Goals 

 
             

 

          

       

       
 

 
 

      

         

 
 

 

 

ESG report and other CSR material can be found here, on Skeljungur’s website.  

https://www.skeljungur.is/samfelagsleg-abyrgd

